Speaker Information

Kevin Collins Attorney at Law 600 Navarro #250 San Antonio, Texas 78205 (210) 223-9480 Fax: (210) 227-1501 E-Mail: kevc11@yahoo.com

Biographical Information

Kevin Collins is a sole practitioner in San Antonio, Texas. Mr. Collins, a former Bexar County prosecutor, is Board Certified in Criminal Law and practices in both Federal and State courts throughout Texas. His juvenile law cases include many involving sex offender de-registration issues.

> 18th Annual Juvenile Law Conference **PROFESSOR ROBERT O. DAWSON JUVENILE LAW INSTITUTE**

February 1-3, 2005 • Renaissance Hotel • Austin, Texas

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Overview and History of Texas Sex Offender Registration Laws	1
A. Every Jurisdiction Has Them	
B. History of Texas Sex Offender Registration	1
C. Continued Evolution of the Law	
D. Sources of Texas Juvenile Sex Offender Law	
II. What Degistration Involves	2
II. <u>What Registration Involves</u>	
A. Article 62.02. Registration.	
B. Article 62.08. Central Database; Public Information	4
III. Un-registration and De-registration of Juvenile Sex Offenders	6
A. Un-registration	6
B. De-registration	10
IV. <u>Practical Applications</u>	14
A. Know Your Respondent and Respondent's Family	
B. Experts	
C. Work With Your Prosecutors	
D. Know Your Probation Officers	
E. Be Sensitive to the Victim and the Victim's Family	
F. Know Your Judge	
G. Sealing of Records	
V. Clasing Thoughts on Tours Junerile for Offender Louis	16
V. Closing Thoughts on Texas Juvenile Sex Offender Laws	10
VI. <u>Endnotes</u>	17
VII. Sample Petitions and Orders	
A. Petition to De-Register Out-of State Adjudication	
B. Agreed Order Excusing Sex Offender Registration	
C. Agreed De-registration and Waiver of Hearing	

I. Overview and History of Texas Sex Offender Registration Laws

A. Every Jurisdiction Has Them.

There exists in every state and in the federal government, sex offender registry laws. This type of information is currently available in more than thirty states online, including Texas.

B. History of Texas Sex Offender Registration.

Texas enacted a sex offender registration system in 1991 that applied to adults and juveniles alike. This original version of the sex offender statutes was meant to be confidential and only for use by law enforcement officers during criminal investigations. A dramatic change occurred in 1995 and sex offender information in Texas became available to the general public, as well as law enforcement officers.

Although there are many differences in the duration of registration between adults and juveniles, the records of both are equally public, and juvenile sex offender information can be found on the internet and pursuant to written request. Note that the juvenile sex offender statutes have survived numerous due process constitutional challenges. See, e.g., <u>In Re R.M.</u>, unpublished, 2001 Tex. App. Lexis 497 (Tex. App. San Antonio, Sept. 26, 2001).

C. Continued Evolution of the Law.

In response to the new public nature of juvenile sex offender status, the Texas legislature enacted Code of Criminal Procedure article 62.13, effective September 1st, 2001, to allow juvenile courts to excuse adjudicated sex offenders from registration requirements, a process known as un-registration.ⁱ The new law also authorized judges to excuse further registration of juveniles who are already registered, a process known as de-registration. The de-registration process is retroactive and will apply to any offender, regardless of when the adjudication or conduct occurred.

The new law is applied by use of a balancing test that considers first whether requiring registration of a particular juvenile sex offender increases the protection to the public; and even if so, weighs it against harm to the <u>offender</u> and the offender's family. The bulk of this paper will explore the application of that law, with tips for practitioners.

D. Sources of Texas Juvenile Sex Offender Law

1. Code of Criminal Procedure

Art. 62, Sex Offender Registration Program

Art. 42.016, Special Driver's License or Identification Requirements for Certain Sex Offenders

- 2. Family Code Section 54.0405, Child Placed on Probation for Sexual Offense
- 3. Human Resources Code, Section 61.0813, Condition of Parole
- Government Code Section 411.135, Public Access to Information Section 411.151, Expunction of DNA Records
- 5. Transportation Code Section 521.057 (Information Regarding Certain Sex Offenders) Section 521.103 (Expiration and Renewal of License) Section 521.222 (Instruction Permit) Section 521.223 (Hardship License) Section 521.272 (License Renewal) Section 521.274 (Renewal by Mail) (Not Allowed if Registered Sex Offender) Section 522.033 (Commercial Driver's License Issued to Certain Sex Offenders)
- II. <u>What Registration Involves</u>
 - A. Art. 62.02. Registration.
 - 1. <u>Statutory Registration Requirements for Registered Sex Offenders are as</u> Follow:

(a) A person who has a reportable convictionⁱⁱ or adjudication or who is required to register as a condition of parole, release to mandatory supervision, or community supervision shall register or, if the person is a person for whom registration is completed under this chapter, verify registration as provided by Subsection (d), with the local law enforcement authority in any municipality where the person resides or intends to reside for more than seven days. If the person shall register or verify registration in any county where the person resides or intends to reside or intends to reside for more than seven days. The person shall satisfy the requirements of this subsection not later than the seventh day after the person's arrival in the municipality or county.

(b) The department shall provide the Texas Department of Criminal Justice, the Texas Youth Commission, the Texas Juvenile Probation Commission, and each local law enforcement authority, county jail, and court with a form for registering persons required by this chapter to register. The registration form shall require:

(1) the person's full name, each alias, date of birth, sex, race, height, weight, eye color, hair color, social security number, driver's license number, shoe size, and home address;

(2) a recent color photograph or, if possible, an electronic digital image of the person and a complete set of the person's fingerprints;

(3) the type of offense the person was convicted of, the age of the victim, the date of conviction, and the punishment received;

(4) an indication as to whether the person is discharged, paroled, or released on juvenile probation, community supervision, or mandatory supervision;

(5) an indication of each license, as defined by Article 62.08(f), that is held or sought by the person; and

(6) any other information required by the department.

(c) Not later than the third day after a person's registering, the local law enforcement authority with whom the person registered shall send a copy of the registration form to the department.

(d) A person for whom registration is completed under this chapter shall report to the applicable local law enforcement authority to verify the information in the registration form received by the authority under this chapter. The authority shall require the person to produce proof of the person's identity and residence before the authority gives the registration form to the person for verification. If the information in the registration form is complete and accurate, the person shall verify registration by signing the form. If the information is not complete or not accurate, the person shall make any necessary additions or corrections before signing the form.

(e) A person who is required to register or verify registration under this chapter shall ensure that the person's registration form is complete and accurate with respect to each item of information required by the form in accordance with Subsection (b).

(f) If a person subject to registration under this chapter does not move to an intended residence by the end of the seventh day after the date on which the person is released or the date on which the person leaves a previous residence, the person shall:

(1) report to the juvenile probation officer, community supervision and corrections department officer, or parole officer supervising the person by not later than the seventh day after the date on which the person leaves a previous residence, as applicable, and provide the officer with the address of the person's temporary residence: and

(2) continue to report to the person's supervising officer not less than weekly during any period of time in which the person has not moved to an intended residence and provide the officer with the address of the person's temporary residence.

(g) If the other state has a registration requirement for sex offenders, a person who has a reportable conviction or adjudication, who resides in this state, and who is employed, carries on a vocation, or is a student in another state shall, not later than the 10^{th} day after the date on which the person begins to work or attend school in the other state, register with the law enforcement authority that is identified by the department as the authority designated by that state to received registration information.

B. Art. 62.08. Central Database; Public Information.

1. Accessible Registration Information is Statutorily Defined as Follows:

(a) The department shall maintain a computerized central database containing only the information required for registration under this chapter.

(b) The information contained in the database is public information, with the exception of any information:

(1) regarding the person's social security number, driver's license number, or telephone number;

(2) that is required by the department under Article 62.02(b)(6); or

(3) that would identify the victim of the offense for which the person is subject to registration.

(c) A local law enforcement authority shall release public information described under Subsection (b) to any person who submits to the authority a written request for the information. The authority may charge the person a fee not to exceed the amount reasonably necessary to cover the administrative costs associated with the authority's release of information to the person under this subsection.

(d) The department shall provide a licensing authority with notice of any person required to register under this chapter who holds or seeks a license that is issued by the authority. The department shall provide the notice required by this subsection as the applicable licensing information becomes available through the person's registration or verification of registration.

(e) Notwithstanding Chapter 730, Transportation Code, the department shall maintain in the database, and shall post on any department website related to the database, any photograph of the person that is available through the process for obtaining or renewing a personal identification certificate or driver's license under Section 521.272, Transportation Code. The department shall update the photograph in the database and on the website annually or as the photograph otherwise becomes available through the renewal process for the certificate or license.

(f) A local law enforcement authority shall release public information described under Subsection (b) to any person who submits to the authority a written request for the information. The authority may charge the person a fee not to exceed the amount reasonably necessary to cover the administrative costs associated with the authority's release of information to the person under this subsection.

(g) On the written request of a licensing authority that identifies an individual and states that the individual is an applicant for or a holder of a license issued by the authority, the department shall release any information described by Subsection (a) to the licensing authority.

(h) For the purposes of Subsections (d) and (e):

(1) "License" means a license, certificate, registration, permit, or other authorization that:

(A) is issued by a licensing authority; and

(B) a person must obtain to practice or engage in a particular business, occupation, or profession.

(2) "Licensing authority" means a department, commission, board, office, or other agency of the state or a political subdivision of the state that issues a license.

(i) For the purposes of Subsection (e):

(1) "License" means a license, certificate, registration, permit, or other authorization that:

(A) is issued by a licensing authority; and(B) a person must obtain to practice or engage in a particular business, occupation, or profession.

(2) "Licensing authority" means a department, commission, board, office, or other agency of the state or a political subdivision of the state that issues a license.

III. <u>Un-registration and De-registration of Juvenile Sex Offenders</u>

A. Un-registration.

1. Article 62.13 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, subsections (a) through (k) sets for the procedure for un-registration:

(a) A person who has an adjudication of delinquent conduct that would otherwise be reportable under Article

62.01(5) does not have a reportable adjudication of delinquent conduct for purposes of this chapter if the juvenile court enters an order under this article excusing compliance by the person with the registration requirements of this chapter.

(b) After disposition of a case under Section 54.04, Family Code, for adjudication of an offense for which registration is required under this chapter, the juvenile court on motion of the respondent shall conduct a hearing to determine whether the interests of the public require registration under this chapter.

(c) The hearing is without a jury and the burden of persuasion is on the respondent to show by a preponderance of evidence that the criteria of Subsection (e) have been met. The court at the hearing may make its determination based on:

- (1) the receipt of exhibits;
- (2) the testimony of witnesses;
- (3) representations of counsel for the parties; or

(4) the contents of a social history report prepared by the juvenile probation department that may include the results of testing and examination of the respondent by a psychologist, psychiatrist, or counselor.

(d) All written matter considered by the court shall be disclosed to all parties as provided by Section 54.04(b), Family Code.

(e) The court shall enter an order excusing compliance with the registration requirements of this chapter if the court determines:

(1) that the protection of the public would not be increased by registration of the respondent under this chapter; or

(2) that any potential increase in protection of the public resulting from registration is clearly outweighed by the anticipated substantial harm to the respondent and the respondent's family that would result from registration under this chapter.

(f) The prosecuting attorney may waive the state's right to a hearing under this article and agree that registration under

this chapter is not required. If the waiver is entered under a plea agreement, the court shall without a hearing enter an compliance with order excusing the registration requirements of this chapter or, under Section 54.03(j), Family Code, inform the respondent that the court believes a hearing under this article is required and give the respondent the opportunity to withdraw the respondent's plea of guilty, nolo contendere, or true or to affirm the respondent's plea and participate in the hearing. If the waiver is entered other than under a plea agreement, the court shall without a hearing enter an order excusing compliance with the registration requirements of this chapter. The waiver must state whether or not it is entered under a plea agreement. The respondent may as part of a plea agreement promise not to file a motion seeking an order excusing registration, in which case the court may not recognize the motion.

(g) Notwithstanding Section 56.01, Family Code, on entry by a juvenile court of an order under Subsection (e) excusing registration under this chapter, the prosecuting attorney may appeal that order by giving notice of appeal within the time required under Rule 26.2(b), Texas Rules of Appellate Procedure. The appeal is civil and the standard of review in the appellate court is whether the juvenile court committed procedural error or abused its discretion in excusing compliance with registration. The appeal is limited to review of the order excusing compliance with registration and may not include any other issues in the case.

(h) The respondent may under Section 56.01, Family Code, appeal the juvenile court's order requiring registration in the same manner as the appeal of any other legal issue in the case. The standard of review in the appellate court is whether the juvenile court committed procedural error or abused its discretion in not excusing compliance with registration.

(i) If the juvenile court enters an order excusing registration, the respondent may not be required to register in this or any other state for the offense for which registration was excused.

(j) After a hearing under Subsection (b) or under a plea agreement under Subsection (f), the juvenile court may

enter an order deferring decision on requiring registration until the respondent has completed a sex offender treatment program as a condition of probation or while committed to the Texas Youth Commission. The court retains discretion to require or to excuse registration at any time during the treatment program or on its successful or unsuccessful completion. During the period of deferral, registration may not be required.

(k) After a hearing under Subsection (b) or under a plea agreement under Subsection (f), the juvenile court may enter an order requiring the respondent to register as a sex offender but provide that the registration information is not public information and is restricted to use by law enforcement and criminal justice agencies. Information obtained under this subsection may not be posted on the Internet or released to the public.

2. Analysis

It is important to note that un-registration is possible in any case where sex offender registration has not yet occurred. Cases adjudicated but pending disposition, TYC cases where the juvenile has not yet been released on parole, and determinate sentence cases where registration has not yet been required because adult parole has not yet been granted. In any of these instances, it is possible to conduct a hearing before the adjudicating court to ask that registration not occur.

(a) What is a Reportable Adjudication

Subsection (a) defines reportable adjudication to exclude a person whose registration has been excused by court order. Therefore, that person is totally excused from any and all registration requirements.

(b) Un-registration Hearing

The juvenile court must hold a hearing upon motion seeking unregistration, under the same cause number as the original petition, and heard anytime following disposition. The hearing is to the court and a jury is not authorized. Testimony from experts, exhibits, and a social history report may be considered, as well as representations of counsel. If a social history report is prepared by probation, it must be disclosed to all parties.

The burden of proof at the hearing is a preponderance of the evidence, based on the balancing test of protection of the public versus harm to the respondent and the respondent's family. In fact, even if there is some evidence that protection of the public would be increased by registration, if that is outweighed by harm to the respondent and the respondent's family, then registration should not occur. The court can also adopt a middle ground and order a non-public registration. This means that the registration information is not disclosable over the internet and is not to be used except by law enforcement personnel conducting a criminal investigation (in effect the pre-1995 standard).

(c) Pursuant to Plea Bargain Agreement

This section enables the prosecutors and the defense attorney to strike a plea bargain that includes un-registration as part of the agreement. However, as with any plea agreement, the court is free to reject it, and may do so in regards to un-registration. However if the adjudicating court accepts the plea bargain, then it must order un-registration without a hearing.

There are several permutations possible in this area. The court may choose to accept the plea bargain, but only on the condition that a subsection (1) hearing is held. In such instance, the juvenile should be allowed to withdraw the plea or to proceed with the understanding a hearing will be held on the registration issue. Another scenario allows the prosecution to waive its right to a registration hearing without a plea agreement. This waiver of hearing must state whether it is part of the plea bargain. If it is not, the court must grant unregistration. The last wrinkle involves an agreement by the respondent not to file a motion for un-registration (or de-registration), and if the court accepts the same, respondent will have no recourse but to register as a sex offender as required by law.

(d) Appellate Rights

The state is authorized under subsection (g) to appeal if the Court excuses registration completely. The state cannot appeal a court's decision granting non-public registration. The state's notice of appeal must be filed within fifteen days of the order and is strictly limited to the registration issue.

The juvenile is also authorized to appeal, and the standard of review is whether the juvenile court committed procedural error or closed its discretion in not excusing registration compliance. Tex. Code CivProc. Art.§ 62.13(h).

B. De-registration.

1. This type of hearing allows currently registered offenders to be excused from further compliance with the registration laws and has been recently amended to address juvenile sex offenders who move to Texas from other States. The text of Article 62.13 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure is as follows:

(1) A person who has registered as a sex offender for an adjudication of delinquent conduct, regardless of when the delinquent conduct or the adjudication for the conduct occurred, may file a motion in the adjudicating juvenile

court for a hearing seeking excusal from registration as provided by Subsection (e) or seeking under Subsection (k) an order that the registration become nonpublic.

(m) The person may file a motion under Subsection (l) in the original juvenile case regardless of whether the person is at the time of filing 18 years of age or older. Notice of the motion shall be provided to the prosecuting attorney. A hearing on the motion shall be provided as in other cases under this article.

(n) A motion may be filed under Subsection (l) only if a previous motion under this article has not been filed concerning that case.

(o) To the extent feasible, the motion under Subsection (l) shall identify those public and private agencies and organizations that possess sex offender registration information about the case.

(p) The juvenile court, after a hearing, may:

(1) deny the motion;

(2) grant the motion to excuse all registration; or

(3) grant the motion to change the registration from public to nonpublic.

(q) If the court grants the motion, the clerk of the court shall by certified mail, return receipt requested, send a copy of the order to the department, to each local law enforcement authority that the person has proved to the juvenile court has registration information about the person, and to each public or private agency or organization that the person has proved to the juvenile court has information about the person that is currently available to the public with or without payment of a fee. The clerk of the court shall by certified mail, return receipt requested, send a copy of the order to any other agency or organization designated by the person, The person shall identify the agency or organization and its address and pay a fee of \$20 to the court for each agency or organization the person designates.

Text of subsec. (q) as amended by Acts 2003, 78th Leg., ch. 347, § 15

(q) If the court grants the motion, a copy of the court's order shall be sent to:

(1) each public or private agency or organization that the court determines may be in possession of sex offender registration information pertaining to the person required to register under this chapter; and

(2) at the request of the person required to register under this chapter, each public or private agency or organization that at any time following the initial dissemination of the order under Subdivision (1) gains possession of sex offender registration information pertaining to that person, if the agency or organization did not otherwise receive a copy of the order under Subdivision (1).

(q-1) An order under Subsection (q) shall require the recipient to confirm its records to the court's orders either by deleting the sex offender registration information or changing its status to nonpublic, as the order requires. A public or private institution of higher education may not be required to delete the sex offender registration information under this subsection.

(r) A private agency or organization that possesses sex offender registration information is obtained from a state, country, or local governmental entity is required to conform its records to the court's order on or before the 30th day after the date of its entry. Failure to comply in that period automatically bars an agency or organization, other than a public or private institution of higher education, form obtaining sex offender registration information from any state, country, or local governmental entity in this state in the future.

(s) A person required to register as a sex offender in this state because of an out-of-state adjudicationⁱⁱⁱ of delinquent conduct may file in the juvenile court of the person's country of residence a petition under Subsection (a) for an order to excuse compliance with this chapter. If the person is already registered as a sex offender in this state because of an out-of-state adjudication of delinquent conduct, the person may file in the juvenile court of the person's country of residence a petition under Subsection (l) for an order removing the person from sex offender registries in this state. On receipt of a petition to excuse compliance or for

removal, the juvenile court shall conduct a hearing and make ruling as in other cases under this article. An order of registration information applies only to registration information derived from registration in this state.

Added by Acts 2001, 77th Leg., ch. 1297, § 54, eff. Sept. 1, 2001. Amended by Acts 2003, 78th Leg., ch. 283, § 36, eff. Sept. 1, 2003; Acts 2003, 78th Leg., ch. 347, § 15, eff. Sept. 1, 2003.

(New material highlighted).

2. Analysis.

De-registration can be a much more time-consuming and expensive undertaking than un-registration. It requires an individual already registered, perhaps for years, to ask the adjudicating court to re-open the matter and excuse registration. This affects countless numbers of cases because there was no unregistration choice until the recent statutory changes. Even if the court can be convinced to order de-registration, it can still of course make it the limited, nonpublic type, a step short of total de-registration.

a. Jurisdiction and Filing

Subsection (m) authorizes the motion to be filed in the original juvenile proceeding where the registration occurred. This jurisdiction extends even though, as will frequently be the case, the registrant is 18 years or older at the time of the hearing.

b. De-registration is a one-time opportunity

If previous un-registration or de-registration motion has been filed, the court has no jurisdiction to consider the request. Counsel must be extremely careful when requesting either un-registration and de-registration, and realize that there is no second chance.

c. Identification of Law Enforcement Agencies

The genie is already out of the bottle, unlike in un-registration requests, so it is incumbent upon counsel to identify and serve a de-registration order on all law enforcement agencies that may possess the information. This will include local, national and internet groups that have accessed the data from DPS. Subsections (r) and (9) and provides that 30 days from the court's order, private and public databases must comply and delete the records or be automatically barred from receiving such records in the future. (Note the "deletion exception" of a public or private institution of higher education).

IV. Consequences for Failure to Register

The Code of Criminal Procedure Art. 62.10, Failure to comply with registration requirements, sets out the followings:

(a) A person commits an offense if the person is required to register and fails to comply with any requirement of this chapter.

(b) An offense under this article is:

(1) a state jail felony if the actor is a person whose duty to register expires under Article 62.12(b);

(2) a felony of the third degree if the actor is a person whose duty to register expires under Article 62.12(a) and who is required to verify registration once each year under Article 62.06; and

(3) a felony of the second degree if the actor is a person whose duty to register expires under Article 62.12(a) and who is required to verify registration once each 90-day period under Article 62.06.

(c) If it is shown at the trial of a person for an offense under this article that the person has previously been convicted of an offense under this article, the punishment for the offense is increased to the punishment for the highest degree of felony.

V. Practical Applications

A. Know Your Respondent and Your Respondent's Family

The legal test in these cases considers protection of the public; but emphasizes that even if the public would receive some increased protection, is that outweighed by the anticipated harm to the respondent and the respondent's family? That means that as a juvenile's counsel, you must find out how the registration process, or in the case of un-registration, the anticipated process, impacts the respondent and his family.

The harm to respondent and family may be easier as a practical matter to show in cases of de-registration. For example, respondent and family may have been forced to move from an apartment complex because of the registration requirements. Respondent and siblings may have been ridiculed at school because other children found the registration information on the internet. There are numerous scenarios such as these that you need to discover and present to the court.

Another issue that might be easy to overlook is what did your client look like at the time of the offense? A hulking 23-year-old seeking de-registration may not look anything like the 13-year-old offender. Get a picture for the court!

B. Experts

It is critically important to obtain any and all psychological and psychiatric records concerning your client. Obtain a medical and records release from your client. Remember a parent must sign the release if he or she is still a juvenile. Examine the records to find out what treatment was given and whether it was successful. Meet with the treating experts and obtain their opinions concerning the risk to re-offend. Also consider hiring an independent expert preferably Licensed or Register Sex Offender Therapist to examine the records and render an opinion.

C. Work with Your Prosecutors

Oftentimes, prosecutors will agree to un-registration or de-registration without the necessity of a formal hearing. Provide them with helpful records and opinions they may not have access to otherwise. Also provide them with names of teachers, students, co-workers, neighbors, and the like that have favorable opinions of your client. Remember protection of the public is an important factor, and if your client is not perceived as a threat by his or her community, let the State know.

Sometimes prosecutors will agree to limited (non-public registration), or to defer registration, and you must make a strategic decision whether to pursue total un-registration or de-registration at the risk of complete public registration if you fail. Remember if the state agrees to waive a hearing, and it is not as part of a plea bargain, the court <u>must</u> approve the de-registration or un-registration.

D. Know Your Probation Officer(s)

There may be several probation officers that have been involved with a particular sex offender. Determine who all these individuals are and find out their opinions. They may not all share the same conclusions. Also a social history report may be prepared by a probation officer in preparation for a hearing. These must be provided to counsel. A favorable recommendation for the respondent from a probation officer is worth its weight in gold at a hearing, or in hearing negotiations. Remember to always review probation's files and be prepared to address with prosecutors any negative factors they contain.

E. Be Sensitive to the Victim and the Victim's Family

The victim and the victim's family are a part of the public. Remember that they can be called to testify when protection of the public is to be considered by the court. They should not be allowed to re-hash the offense, but if they have valid, current concerns based on recent actions by your client, that is certainly relevant information for the court. You might also be surprised to learn that some families are forgiving, especially given the young age of your client at the time of the offense, your client's progress, remorse, and lack of new criminal behavior. Oftentimes, in working with your prosecutors, you can get a sense of the victim's posture concerning un-registration or de-registration and proactively provide positive information for them to relay to the victim and victim's family.

F. Know Your Judge

Obviously, some courts may be more registration-oriented than others, but stress to the court the differences between juvenile sex offenders and adult sex offenders. Point out that recidivism is much less likely with juvenile offenders and that detected early, they can be rehabilitated. Bring that picture to show your client's appearance at the time of the offense. The law is also fairly new, so you may find yourself in a position of educating the court on the law in the area. Be prepared to do so.

Remember that the state can always waive its right to a hearing and the Court must then grant the request for un-registration or de-registration by statute. There is no court discretion as long as a plea bargain is not involved.

G. Sealing of Records

Section 58.003 of the Family Code seems to allow the sealing of sex offender registration records. However, remember that Section 58.003(n) prohibits the sealing of the records as long as the duty to register exists. Once that requirement is over, due to de-registration, un-registration, or expiration, then sealing is possible as long as all other statutory requirements are met. (Remember that determinate sentencing cases cannot be sealed pursuant to 58.003(b) of the Family Code).

V. Closing Thoughts on Texas Juvenile Sex Offender Registration Laws

Juveniles Really are Different

The experts I have consulted and the literature they rely on, support the conclusion that juvenile sex offenders can be treated and their behavior successfully modified so that they can become productive adults. The legislature of Texas has recognized this through the current law that allows the removal of the social stigma of sex offender status. Therefore, young people who made a mistake early in life now have a chance to function without the handicap of a high-tech scarlet letter, and Counsel should be vigorous in pursuing the remedies of un-registration and de-registration.

Endnotes

¹ None of these provisions apply to sex offenders convicted for conduct occurring while an adult. ² A reportable adjudication under Article 62.01(5) the Texas Code of Criminal procedure means the following:

(A) a conviction for a violation of Section 21.11 (Indecency with a child), 22.011 (Sexual assault), 22.021 (Aggravated sexual assault), or 25.02 (Prohibited sexual conduct), Penal Code;

(B) a conviction for a violation of Section 43.05 (Compelling prostitution), 43.25 (sexual performance by a child), or 43.26 (Possession or promotion of child pornography), Penal Code;

(C) a conviction for a violation of Section 20.04(a)(4) (Aggravated kidnapping), Penal Code, if the defendant committed the offense with intent to violate or abuse the victim sexually;

(D) a conviction for a violation of Section 30.02 (Burglary), Penal Code, if the offense is punishable under Subsection (d) of that section and the defendant committed the offense with intent to commit a felony listed in Paragraph (A) or (C);

(E) a conviction for a violation of Section 20.02 (Unlawful restraint), 20.03 (Kidnapping), or 20.04 (Aggravated kidnapping), Penal Code, if the judgment in the case contains an affirmative finding under Article 42.015;

(F) the second conviction for a violation of Section 21.08 (Indecent exposure), Penal Code;

(G) a conviction for an attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation, as defined by Chapter 15, Penal Code, to commit an offense listed in Paragraph (A), (B), (C), (D), or (E);

(H) an adjudication of delinquent conduct;

(i) based on a violation of one of the offenses listed in Paragraph (A), (B), (C), (D), or (G) or, if the order in the hearing contains an affirmative finding that the victim or intended victim was younger than 17 years of age, one of the offenses listed Paragraph (E); or

(ii) for which two violations of the offense listed in Paragraph (F) are shown;

(I) a deferred adjudication for an offense listed in:

(i) Paragraph (A), (B), (C), (D), or (G); or

(ii) Paragraph (E) if the papers in the case contain an affirmative finding that the victim or intended victim was younger that 17 years of age;

(J) a conviction under the laws of another state, federal law, the laws of a foreign country, or the Uniform Code of Military Justice for an offense containing elements that are substantially similar to the elements of an offense listed under Paragraph (A), (B),(C),(D), (E), or (G);

(K) an adjudication of delinquent conduct under the laws of another state, federal law, or the laws of a foreign country based on a violation of an offense containing elements that are substantially similar to the elements of an offense listed under Paragraph (A),(B), (C), (D),(E), or (G);

(L) the second conviction under the laws of another state, federal law, the laws of a foreign country, or the Uniform Code of Military Justice for an offense containing elements that are substantially similar to the elements of the offense of indecent exposure; or

(M) the second adjudication of delinquent conduct under the laws of another state, federal law, or the laws of a foreign country based on a violation of an offense containing elements that are substantially similar to the elements of the offense of indecent exposure.

"Sexually violent offense" means any of the following offenses committed by a person 17 years of age or older;

(A) an offense under Section 21.11(a)(1) (Indecency with a child), 22.011 (sexual assault), or 22.021 (Aggravated sexual assault), Penal Code;

(B) an offense under Section 43.25 (Sexual performance by a child), Penal Code;

(C) an offense under Section 20.04(a)(4) (Aggravated kidnapping), Penal Code, if the defendant committed the offense with intent to violate or abuse the victim sexually ;

(D) an offense under Section 30.02 (Burglary), Penal Code, if the offense is punishable under Subsection (d) of that section and the defendant committed the offense with intent to commit a felony listed in Paragraph (A) or (C) of Subdivision (5); or

(E) an offense under the laws of another state, federal law, the laws of a foreign country, or the Uniform Code of Military Justice if the offense contains elements that are substantially similar to the elements of an offense listed under Paragraph (A), (B), (C), or (D);

(7.) "Residence" includes a residence established in this state by a person described by Article 62.063(e).

(8) "Public or private institution of higher education" includes a college, university, community college, or technical or trade institute.

(9) "Authority for campus security" means the authority with primary law enforcement jurisdiction over property under the control of a public or private institution of higher education, other than a local law enforcement authority. Tex.Art. of Crim. Proc. 62.01(6)

³ Art. 62.021 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, Out-of-State Registrants, is as follows:

(a) This article applies to a person who:

(1) is required to register as a sex offender under:

(A) the laws of another state with which the department has entered into a reciprocal registration agreement;

(B) federal law or the Uniform Code of Military Justice; or

(C) the laws of a foreign country; and

(2) is not otherwise required to register under this chapter because:

(A) the person does not have a reportable conviction for an offense under the laws of the other state, federal law, the laws of the foreign county, or the Uniform Code of Military Justice containing elements that are substantially similar to an offense requiring registration under this chapter; or

(B) the person does not have a reportable adjudication of delinquent conduct based on a violation of an offense under the laws of the other state, federal law, or the laws of the foreign country containing elements that are substantially similar to an offense requiring registration under this chapter.

(b) A person described by Subsection (a) is required to comply with the annual verification requirements of Article 62.06 in the same manner as a person who is required to verify registration on the basis of a reportable conviction or adjudication.

(c) The duty to register for a person described by Subsection (a) expires on the date the person's duty to register would expire under the laws of the other state or foreign country had the person remained in that state or foreign country, under federal law, or under the Uniform Code of Military Justice, as applicable.

(d) The department may negotiate and enter into a reciprocal registration agreement with any other state to prevent residents of this state and residence of the other state from frustrating the public purpose of the registration of sex offenders by moving from one state to the other.

VI. Sample Petition and Orders

- A. Petition to De-Register Out-of-State Adjudication
- B. Agreed Order Excusing Sex Offender Registration
- C. Agreed De-Registration and Waiver of Hearing

SAMPLE "A"

Petition to De-Register Out-of State Adjudication

CAUSE NO.

IN THE MATTER OF

§ IN THE DISTRICT COURT
§ ____JUDICIAL DISTRICT
§ DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS

PETITION TO EXCUSE COMPLIANCE WITH SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

NOW COMES ______, and by and through his attorney of record, KEVIN L. COLLINS, and hereby requests that the Court excuse compliance with sex offender registration in this matter for all the following reasons:

I. PARTIES AND SERVICE OF PROCESS

Petitioner ______ ("Petitioner") is a resident of ______ County, _____.
 Respondent, the Dallas County District Attorney, may be served with citation and process at the following address: <u>2600 Lone Star Drive, LB22, Dallas, Texas 75212.</u>

2) Venue is proper in Dallas, Dallas County, Texas, pursuant to Art. 62.13(s) of the Code of Criminal Procedure.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

 sex offender in ______, but was required to register as such by Texas Law. Petitioner files this action pursuant to Art. §§62.13(e) (1) and (s) of the Code of Criminal Procedure.

Petitioner, now 21, successfully completed his term of probation in _____ County as of _____. Petitioner's juvenile case has already been sealed pursuant to ______Law. He now attends college and lives in _____ County. _____, Registered Sex Offender Treatment Provider, has recently evaluated Petitioner and does not believe Petitioner poses a risk to re-offend.

3) Petitioner, is currently required to register as a sex offender in Texas due to his reportable conviction, including DPS website registration and he is in compliance with said registration.

4) Petitioner should not have to continue to register as a sex offender because the protection of the public would not be increased by said registration and/or any potential increase in protection of the public resulting from registration is clearly outweighed by the anticipated substantial harm to the Petitioner and the Petitioner's family that would result from continued registration.

III.

REQUESTED REMEDIES

1) Petitioner requests that the court grant relief pursuant to Article 62.13 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure and under subsection (e) excuse compliance with the registration requirements of said chapter.

2) In the alternative, Petitioner requests that the Court require pursuant to Article 62.13 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, subsection (k), that the registration information not be public, and be restricted to use by law enforcement and criminal justice agencies, but prohibit said information from being posted on the internet or otherwise released to the public.

3) Petitioner also requests that this motion be sealed in this matter.

23

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests that the Honorable Court set this matter for a hearing, and grant all requested relief, as well as any and all other relief this Court deems just and appropriate.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

KEVIN L. COLLINS VOGUE BUILDING, SUITE 250 600 NAVARRO STREET SAN ANTONIO, TX 78205 TELEPHONE: (210) 223-9480 FACSIMILE: (210) 227-1501 STATE BAR NO. 04625510

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATE OF TEXAS	*
	*
COUNTY OF BEXAR	*

AFFIDAVIT

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Kevin L. Collins,

who after being duly sworn stated:

"My name is Kevin L. Collins. I am the attorney for the Petitioner in the above-entitled and numbered cause. I have read the foregoing Petition to Excuse Compliance and swear that all of the allegations of fact contained therein are true and correct."

KEVIN L. COLLINS, AFFIANT

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on this the _____ day of _____, 2004, to

certify which witness my hand and seal of office.

Notary Public, State of Texas

Notary's Printed Name

My Commission Expires

CAU	USE NO	
IN THE MATTER OF	Ş	IN THE DISTRICT COURT
	§	
	§	JUDICIAL DISTRICT
	§	
	§	DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS

FIAT

On the ______day of ______, 2004 came on to be considered the above and foregoing Petition to Excuse Sex Offender Registration, and a request for hearing having been made, the same is hereby reset to be called at _____ on the _____ day of ______, 2004, in the ____ District Courtroom, Dallas, Dallas County, Texas.

JUDGE PRESIDING

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kevin L. Collins, hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Petition has been delivered to the Dallas District Attorney's Office, Juvenile Division, on this the _____day of _____, 2004.

KEVIN L. COLLINS

SAMPLE "B"

Agreed Order Excusing Sex Offender Registration

CAUSE NO		
IN THE INTEREST	*	IN THE DISTRICT COURT
	*	
OF	*	JUDICIAL DISTRICT
	*	
, A MINOR CHILD	*	BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAS

AGREED ORDER EXCUSING SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION

On this the _____ day of _____, 2003 the parties agreed to the Motion to Excuse Compliance with Sex Offender Registration in the above entitled and numbered cause, and it appears to the Court that this Agreed Order should be honored and entered pursuant to Art. 62.13(f) of the Code of Criminal Procedure.

IT	IS	THEREFORE	ORDERED	that	as	to	Juvenile	Offender,	D.O.B.,
		, JUV SID No		_:					

- 1. Any and all Sex Offender registration requirements in this cause shall cease and he shall no longer be required to register as a sex offender.
- 2. Each agency or official listed below shall before the 30th day after the date this order is received, send to this Court all files and records concerning sex offender registration.
- 3. Each agency or official listed below before the 30th day after the date this order is received, shall delete from its records all index references to the files and records there are concerning sex offender registration.
- 4. Each agency or official listed below shall reply on inquiry that no Sex Offender registration record exists with respect to Juvenile Offender.
- 5. The Clerk of the Court shall send a certified copy of this order to the following:

a. List of State, Local, National, Public and Private entities.

6. Any other agencies or entities, public or private, that have sex offender registration information concerning Juvenile Offender.

JUDGE PRESIDING

Assistant Bexar County District Attorney Juvenile Division

Date

Kevin L. Collins Attorney for Respondent SBOT No. 04625510 Date

SAMPLE "C"

Agreed De-Registration and Waiver of Hearing

CAUSE NO		
IN THE INTEREST	*	IN THE DISTRICT COURT
	*	
OF	*	JUDICIAL DISTRICT
	*	
, A MINOR CHILD	*	BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAS

AGREED DE-REGISTRATION AND WAIVER OF HEARING

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

NOW COMES Juvenile Offender ("J.O."), a minor child, by and through his attorney of record, Kevin L. Collins, and with the Bexar County District Attorney, hereby agree as follows:

I.

The prosecuting attorney hereby waives the State's right to a hearing under Article 62.13(f) of the Code of Criminal Procedure, and agrees that any further compliance with sex offender registration be excused in this cause. This waiver is not entered pursuant to a plea agreement, but by agreement of the parties as authorized by Article 62.13(f) of the Code of Criminal Procedure.

Respectfully submitted and agreed to by the following parties:

Assistant Bexar County District Attorney, Juvenile Division Date

Kevin L. Collins Attorney for Respondent SBOT No. 04625510 Date